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U.S.C.A.
United States District Court,
S.D. Florida.
FIRST UN ION BR OK ER AG E, Plaintiff,
v.
Nick P . MIL OS a nd Catherine P. M ilos, Defenda nts.
No. 87-6981-CIV-EPS.
May 12, 1989.

A securities brokerage filed an action to recover debt
balance on a customer account.
The customers
counterclaimed for fraud , breach of fiduciary d uty,
negligence and b reach of contract. On the brokerage's
motion to dismiss counterclaim s, the District Court,
Spellman, J., held that: (1) customers satisfied
particularity requirements for pleading fraud; (2)
investo r's claim in connection with securities traded on
secondary market did not fall within sco pe of statute
governing purchase of securities in connection with
offering, prospectus or registratio n; (3) customers were
not required to plead loss causation in order to state
cause of action under Florida securities law; but (4)
both reliance and reasonab leness of reliance had to be
pleaded to state cause of action for statutory and
common-law fraud.
Motion granted in pa rt and d enied in part.

W est Headnotes
[1] Federal Civil Procedure
170Ak636 M ost Cited Cases

[2] Securities Regulation
25.50
349Bk25.50 M ost Cited Cases
Customers of securities brokerage cou ld not recover on
claim in connection with securities traded on secondary
market under provision requiring purchase of securities
in connection with new offering, prospectus or
registration. Securities Act of 1933, §§ 1 et seq., 11,
12(2), 15 U.S.C.A. §§ 77a et seq., 77k, 77l (2).
[3] Securities Regulation
349Bk306 Most Cited Cases

306

Securities brokerage custo mers were not req uired to
allege that brokerage's misrepresentation caused the
econom ic harm they suffered in order to state a c laim
under Florida securities fraud provision. W est's F.S.A.
§§ 517 .301 , 517 .301 (1)(a); Securities Exchange Act of
1934, § 1 0(b), 15 U.S.C.A. § 78 j(b).
[4] Securities Regulation
349Bk306 Most Cited Cases

306

Securities customers' allegation of misrepresentation by
brokerage satisfied the requirement that that
representation be made in "connection with" the actual
purchase or sale of a security where it was evident that
alleged misrepresentation was intended to induce
customers to continue trading securities through
brokerage. West's F.S.A. §§ 517.211, 517.301.
[5] Securities Regulation
349Bk302 Most Cited Cases

302

636

Counterclaim for fraud filed by customers of securities
brokerage, which identified brokerage's alleged
misstatem ent, approximate date of alleged misstatement
and particular party who made alleged misstatement,
adequately complied with particularity requirements for
pleading fraud. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 9(b), 28

Securities brokerage fell within designated class of
individuals which could be held liable for violation of
Florida securities fraud law pro visions expressly
providing for liability premised on the theory of agenc y.
West's F.S.A. §§ 517.211, 517.211(2), 517.301.
[6] Fraud
46
184k46 M ost Cited Cases
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[6] Securities Regulation
60.48(1)
349Bk60.48(1) M ost Cited Cases

that the Plaintiff's Motio n to Dismiss should be denied
in part and granted in part.

[6] Securities Regulation
60.48(2)
349Bk60.48(2) M ost Cited Cases

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Party must plead reliance on a misrepresentation or
omission and must also allege that such reliance was
reasonable, in order to state a cause of action for
common-law fraud and statutory fraud. Securities
Exchange Act of 193 4, § 10(b), 15 U .S.C.A. § 78j(b).
[7] Securities Regulation
60.55
349Bk60.55 M ost Cited Cases
Customers were required to allege that brokerage either
lacked intention to perform its prom ise or sp ecifically
intended not to perform at time misrepresentation was
made, in order to state a claim for fraud. Securities
Exchange Act of 193 4, § 10(b), 15 U .S.C.A. § 78j(b).
[8] Brokers
38(3)
65k38(3) Most Cited Cases
Allegations that fiduciary relationship existed between
securities brokerage and customers and that brokerage
acted contra ry to its fiduciary duties of care and loyalty
sufficiently alleged facts estab lishing the existence of a
fiduciary relationship to state a cause of action.
*1520 Birgitta K. Siegel, Ruden, Barnett, M cClo sky,
Smith, Schuster & Russell, P.C., Miami, Fla., for
plaintiff.
Allan Lerner, Fort Lauderdale, Fla., for defend ants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION
SPELLM AN, District Judge.
ORDER ON PLAINT IFF'S MOT ION TO D ISMISS
DEF END ANT S' COUN TE RCLA IM
TH IS CAU SE com es before the Court upon Plaintiff's,
FIRST UNION BROKERA GE, M otion to Dismiss, and
the Magistrate's Recomm endation therein. For the
reasons set forth below, it is the opinion of this Court

Plaintiff, FIRST UNION BROKERAGE SERVICES,
INC ., instituted this action against the Defendants,
NICK and CATHERINE M ILOS, on December 16,
1987, to collect a debt balance in Defendants' brokerage
account totaling $ 265 ,500 .49. In respo nse thereto, the
Defendants asserted a seven (7 ) Count Co unterclaim
against the Plaintiff, and therein raised claims for
federal and state securities violations, common law
claims for fraud, negligence, breach of fiduciary duty
and breach of contract.
Subsequent thereto, the Plaintiff filed a M otion to
Dismiss the Defendants' Counterclaim. This Court
referred the above-styled cause to M agistrate Turnoff
for his consideration. Upon review of this matter,
M a g i s trate Turn o f f is s u e d a R e p o r t a n d
Recommendation, wherein he recommended the
following:
1. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
Plead Fra ud with Particularity--DEN IED ;
2. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
State a Ca use o f Action under Sectio n
12(2)--GRANTED as to Count I of the Counterclaim;
3. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
S ta t e a C la im unde r Fla .S ta t. S ec t i o n
517 .301 --DE NIE D;
4. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
Allege Justifiable Reliance--DEN IED ;
5. Mo tion to Dismiss Counter Claim for Failure to
State a Claim for Fra ud as to Future Acts--DENIED;
6. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
Allege Breach o f Fiduciary Duty--DE NIE D;
7. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
State a Cause of Action for Breach of
Contract--D EN IED ;
8. Mo tion for M ore Definite Statement as to Count
VII--GRANTED.
*1521 After a de novo review of this matter, this Court
makes the following determinations regarding the
Plaintiff's Motion to D ism iss the D efenda nt's
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Counterclaim. [FN1]

FN1. In view of the fact that several of the
grounds for dismissal have been asserted with
respect to more than one count in the
Counterclaim, for purposes of clarity, the
Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss will be reviewed
ground by ground, rather than count by count.

FACTS
The D efendants, NICK AN D CA TH ERIN E M ILOS,
maintained a securities account with the Plaintiff,
FIRST UNION BROKERAGE SERVICES, INC.
[FN2] In the course of purchasing and/or carrying of
common stocks and o ptions in De fendants' margin
acco unt, the Pla intiff made loans o f monies into this
acco unt.
This is known as "margin debt," which
produces a "margin obligation" up on the D efendants.
Due to unfavorable trading conditions in the market, the
Defend ants' account fell below regulated levels;
acco rdingly, the Defendants were required to d epo sit
marginable securities and/o r funds into the account as
collateral for the m argin d ebt and to satisfy the margin
requirement.

FN2. The contract executed betwe en Plaintiff,
First Union Brokerage, and the Defendants,
the M ilos, pro vided in pertinent part:
If, in your discretion you consider it necessary
for your protection to require additional
collateral ... you shall have the right to sell any
or all securities, ... to buy any or all securities,
commodities and o ther prope rty which may be
short in such accounts, to cancel any open
orders and to close a ny or all outstanding
contracts, all without demand for margin or
additional margin, notice of sale or purchase
or other notice or advertisement. It being
understand [sic] that a prior de mand or call or
prior notice of the time and place o f such sale
or purchase shall not be considered a waiver
of your right to sell or buy without demand or
notice.

The relationship between the changing value of the
Defend ants' securities acco unt and Defendants' margin
requirement was central to the Defend ants' investment
decisions. The Defendants ma intain that as a result of
the shifting status of the margin requirement, the
Plaintiff, First Union Brokerage Services, agreed to
provide information o n a daily basis with resp ect to
those elements of the account which would impact upon
decision-making.
Defendants also aver that the
production of this information on a timely basis was
vital due to the volume and the velocity of their
securities transactions.
In September 1987, Plaintiff switched to a new
clearing broker, P ershing & C o. Inc., and as a result
thereo f, the Defendants became concerned over
Plaintiff's ability to furnish daily trading information
with regularity and accuracy. It is alleged that upon
expressing this concern to Barry Parillo, First Union 's
Fort Lauderdale Branch M anager, the Defendants were
told that in the event that any margin deficits did arise,
Defendants would not be required to satisfy them until
November 15, 1987.
Defenda nts allege that in reliance upo n M r. Parillo's
representation, they continued to maintain their account
at First Union B rokerage.
O n Oc tober 20, 1987,
notwithstanding Mr. Parillo's alleged representation, the
Defendants were notified that their account must
promptly meet the existing margin requirement or said
account would be liquidated . The Defendants failed to
meet the margin requireme nt, and as a resu lt thereof,
the account was liquidated. By October 22, 1987,
liquidation was complete and the account was left with
a negative net worth.
The Defendants ma intain that their investment
decisions during September and early October 1987
were made in reliance upon Mr. Parillo's statement.
But for that statement, Defendants contend that they
would have d iminished the activity in their acco unt, or,
upon the receipt of fully accura te inform ation, would
have pulled the account altogether.
DISCUSSION
Failure to Plead Fraud with Pa rticularity
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Plaintiff, First Unio n Brokerage, filed a M otion to
Dismiss Count I (Federal Securities Fraud), Count II
(State Securities Fraud), Count III (Common Law
Fraud), and C ount V (Negligence) of the D efendants'
Counterclaim for failure to plead fraud with sufficient
particularity as required *1522 by Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b).
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) requires that "[i]n
all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances
constituting the fraud or mistake sha ll be stated with
particularity." [FN3] It is well established that claims
for securities fraud m ust mee t the requirements of Rule
9(b); accordingly, all averments therein must be pled
with sufficient particularity. Rule 9(b), however, must
not be read to abrogate the notice pleading policy of
Fed.R.Civ.P. 8. [FN4]

FN3. The dism issal of a C omp laint or
Counterclaim is treated as a dismissal for
failure to state a claim upon which relief can
be granted under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6).
Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Carlstedt, 800 F.2d
1008, 10 11 (10th Cir.1986).

FN4. In considering a M otion to Dismiss for
failure to plead fraud w ith particularity, a
district court must harmon ize Rule 9(b ) with
the broader policy of notice pleading
embodied in the Federal Rules. Friedlander v.
Nims, 755 F.2d 810, 813 n. 3 (11th Cir.1985).

Mere concluso ry allegations of fraud, couched in
statutory language, will not satisfy Rule 9(b). The
allegations "must be accompanied by some delineation
of the underlying acts and transactions which are
asserted to constitute fraud." Me rrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith v. Del Valle, 528 F.Supp. 147, 149
(S.D.Fla.1981) (Spellman, J.). [FN5]

FN 5. Rule 9(b ) requ ires:
that individual plaintiffs should identify
particular defendants with who m they d ealt
directly ... that individual plaintiffs should
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designate the occasions on which affirmative
statements were allegedly mad e to them--and
by whom ; and that the individual p laintiffs
should designa te what a ffirmativ e
misstatem ents or half-truths were directed too
them--and ho w.
Seattle-First Nat. Bank, 800 F.2d 1008, 1011,
quoting Trussell v. Un ited U nde rwriters, Ltd.,
228 F.Supp . 757, 774-75 (D .Colo.1964).

[1] Up on review o f the Defenda nts' Counterclaim, it is
the opinion of this Court that the Defendants have pled
their claims fo r securities fraud with sufficient
particularity in acco rdance with R ule 9(b ). In their
Counterclaim, the Defendants have identified the
alleged misstatem ent, the ap proximate date o f the
alleged misstatem ent, and the particular party who
made the allege d misstateme nt. [FN6] Accordingly, it
is the view of this Co urt that the D efendants have
complied with the pleading requirements of Rule 9(b),
and thus, Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss is DENIED.

FN6. The Court hereby makes this
determination with full knowledge of the
recent holding by the Honorable Jose A.
Gonzalez, Jr. in Pug liese, et al., v. Phillips,
A p p e l & Wa d e n, In c ., C a se N o.
87-8588-CIV-GONZALEZ (S.D.Fla. May 9,
1988). In his Report and Recom mendation,
Magistrate Turnoff distinguishes at length
Pug liese from the instant case. The Court
refers the parties to the Magistrate's Report
and Recommend ation a nd ad opts th e
reasoning therein.

Failure to State a Cause of Action under Section
12(2)
Plaintiff has filed a M otion to Dismiss Count I of the
Defend ants' Counterclaim for failure to state a claim
under Section 12(2) of the 19 33 A ct.
Liability
imposed pursuant to Section 12(2) of the Securities Act
of 193 3 is restricted to a "person who ... offers or sells
a security ... by means of a prospectus or oral
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com munication."
The p hrase "prospectus or oral
communication" refers to a prospectus, registration
statement, or other communication related to a batch
offering of securities, not to subsequent trading. SSH
Co., Ltd., v. Shearso n Lehm an B ros., Inc., 678 F.Supp.
1055, 1059 (S.D .N.Y .198 7). T he statute does not,
therefo re, provide re lief for acts o r omissions in
connection with trading in the secondary market. [FN7]

FN7. The con gressio nal purpose and intent
underlying the Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C.A.
Section 77a et seq., is the regulation and
distribution of securities.
In contrast, the
focus of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
is on post-distribution trading of securities.
Justice Marshall's opinion in Herman &
MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 103
S.Ct. 683, 74 L.Ed .2d 548 (19 83) further
explicates this m atter:
Section 11 of the 1933 A ct allows purchasers
of a registered security to sue certain
enumerated parties in a registered offering
when false or misleading info rmatio n is
included in a registration statement.
The
section was designed to assure compliance
with the disclosure provisions of the Act by
imposing a stringen t standard of liability on
the parties who play a direct role in a
registered offering ... a Section 11 action must
be brought by a purchaser of a registered
security, must be based on misstatements or
omissions in a registration stateme nt, and can
only be brought against certain p arties ... Id.,
103 S.Ct. at 687.

*1523 [2] T he D efendants herein have failed to allege
that they purchased securities in connection with a new
offering, prospectus or registration. Precedent has
established that an investor's claim in connection with
securities traded on the secondary mark et, i.e.,
post-distribution trading, is not within the purview of
Section 12(2) of the Sec urities Ac t. Acco rdingly,
Plaintiff's Mo tion to Dismiss Count I of Defendants'
Counterclaim is GR AN TE D on this basis.
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Failure to State a Claim under Florida Statute Section
517.301
Section 517.302(1 )(a) of the Florida Securities Act,
patterned after Rule 10b-5 of the federal securities laws,
makes it unlawful for anyone
(1) To employ any device, schem e, or artifice to
defraud;
***
(3) To engage in any transaction, practice or course
of business which operates or would operate as a
fraud or deceit upon a person. [FN8]

FN8. Like Rule 10b-5, the state pro vision o nly
covers fraud "in connection with the offer,
sale or pu rchase of a security." Fla.Stat.
Section 517.301 (1)(a). Section 517.301(1)(a)
differs from the parallel federal provision,
however, in that a violation of the state statute
requires proof of negligence rather than
scienter.

To state a cause of action under Section 51 7.30 1, a
party must allege and prove: (1) a misrepresentation or
omission of a material fact; (2) that the investor
justifiably relied on said misrepresentation or omission;
(3) that the misrepresentation or omission was made in
connection with a purchase or sale of securities; (4)
with scienter or reckless disregard as to the truth of the
communication; and (5) that the untruth was the direct
proximate cause of the investor's actual loss. Currie v.
Cayman Resources Corporation, et al., 835 F.2d 780,
785 (11th Cir.1988 ); Gochna uer v. A.G . Edw ards &
Sons, Inc., 810 F.2d 1042, 1046 (11th Cir.1987)
(stating that the elements of a cause of action under
Fla.Stat. Section 517 .301 are ide ntical to those required
by Section 10(b), except that the scienter requirement
is relaxed in the former instance).
[3] The Plaintiff has filed a M otion to Dismiss Count
II of Defend ants' Counterclaim for failure to state claim
under Section 517.301. First, Plaintiff maintains that
the Defendants have failed to state a claim under
Section 517 .301 as they have failed to plead a requisite
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element of the claim, loss causation, i.e., that the
misrepresentation caused the economic harm. [FN9]

FN9. The F ifth Circuit has defined "loss
causation" as follow s:
Causation is related to but distinct from
reliance. Reliance is a cause sine qua non, a
type of "but for" requirement: had the
investor known the truth he would not have
acted . Causation re quires one step further in
the analysis; even if the investor would not
otherwise have acted, was the misrepresented
fact a proxim ate cause of the loss?
The
plaintiff must prove not only that, had he
known the truth, he would not have acted, but
in addition that the untruth was in some
reaso nab ly direct, or proximate way
respo nsible fo r his loss.
Huddleston v. Herman & MacLean, 640 F.2d
534, 554 (5th Cir.198 1), rev'd on other
grounds, 459 U.S. 375, 103 S.Ct. 683, 74
L.Ed.2d 54 8 (1983 ).

The Florida Supreme Court has recently held that proof
of "loss causatio n" is no t required in a securities
proceeding instituted under Section 517.301 and
Section 517.211. E.F. Hutton & Company v. Ro usseff,
537 So.2d 978 (Fla.Sup.Ct.198 9). Due to this recent
decision, this com ponent of P laintiff's Motion to
Dismiss Count II of Defendants' Counterclaim is
baseless. Acco rdingly, this Court finds in accordance
with the Magistrate that the aforementioned motion
should be DENIED.
[4] Second , Plaintiff ma intains that the Defendants
have failed to allege that the alleged misrepresentation
was made in "connection with" the actual purchase or
sale of a security as required under Section 517.301.
W ith respect to the "in connection with" com ponent, it
is evident to this Court that the Plaintiff's alleged
misrepresentation was intended to induce the
Defendants to continue trading securities through First
Union. Acco rdingly, P laintiff's Motion to Dismiss is
DE NIE D on this basis. [FN10]
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FN10. The Co urt's ruling on this matter is in
accord with the Report and Recommendation
issued by the Magistrate.

*1524 Third, Plaintiff maintains that the Defendants'
claim should be dismissed because the Plaintiff does
not fall within the designated class of individuals which
may be held liable for a Section 517.301 violation.
Plaintiff maintains that the Florida legislature has
expressly restricted the scope of liability under Section
517.301 to that narrow class of individuals and entities
identified in Section 517.211, and as such, Plaintiff may
not be he ld liable under the theo ry of vicarious liab ility.
[5] U pon review of this matter, this Co urt finds in
accordance with the Magistrate that Plaintiff's Motion
to Dism iss Count II lacks merit. Co ntrary to Plaintiff's
assertions, Fla.Stat. Section 517.211 expressly provides
for liability premised upon the theory o f agency.
[FN11] As the P laintiff indeed falls within the
designated class of individuals which may be held liable
for a Section 517 .301 violation, it is the op inion o f this
Court that Plaintiff's Motio n to Dism iss Count II sho uld
be DENIED.

FN11. Florida Statute Section 517.211(2)
provides:
Any person purchasing or selling a security in
violation of s. 517.30 1, and every director,
officer, partner, or agent of or for the
purchaser or seller, if the director, officer,
partner, or agent has personally participated or
aided in making the sale or purchase, is jointly
and severally liable to the person selling the
security to or purchasing the security from
such a person in an action for rescission, if the
plaintiff still owns the security, or for
dama ges, if the plaintiff has sold the secu rity.

Failure to Allege Justifiable Reliance
A successful cause of action under Section 10(b) or
Rule 10b -5 requires that the Plaintiff prove (1) a
misstatement or omission (2) of a material fact (3) made
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with scienter (4) upon which the Plaintiff relied (5) that
proximately caused the P laintiff's loss. Gochna uer,
supra, at 104 6. The Florida statutory requirements are
identical to Rule 10b-5, Alna Capital Associates, et al.,
v. Wag ner, 758 F.2d 562, 565 (11th Cir.1985), except
that the scienter req uirement und er Florida law is
satisfied by a showing of mere negligence. Gochna uer,
supra, at 1046. It is undisputed that justifiable reliance
is an element of statutory fraud and common law fraud.
Id. at 1047; Royal Typewriter C om pan y v. Xerog raphic
Sup plies C orp., 719 F.2d 1 092, 110 3 (11th Cir.1983).
This Circuit requires "reasonable reliance" upon the
material misrepresentation, a test of subjective reliance
tempered by the requirement of "due diligence" on the
part of the plaintiff. Gochnauer, supra, at 1047;
Huddleston, supra, at 543.
Not only must an
individual actually rely on the information provided,
this reliance must be "justifiable," i.e., with the exercise
of reasonable diligence on e still could not have
discovered the truth behind the fraudulent omission or
misrepresentation.
Gochnauer, supra, at 1047;
Thompson v. Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co., Inc.,
709 F.2d 1413, 14 17-18 (11th Cir.1983 ).
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"reasonable."

FN13. Although the Magistrate held that
justifiable reliance was an essential element of
a cause of action for statutory and common
law fraud, he held that the Defendants were
not required to plead justifiable reliance in
their Counterclaim.
The M agistrate
concluded, however, that Defendants must
prove justifiable reliance at trial in ord er to
prevail.
The Magistrate cites Gochnauer, supra, for
this proposition: "after hearing the evidence,
the court concluded that the Gochnauers did
not rely upon the misrepresentations...."
Based upon the foregoing statem ent in
Gochnauer, the Magistrate concluded that
justifiable reliance need not be pled, it need
only be pro ved at trial.

Plaintiff has filed a Mo tion to Dismiss Count II
(Statutory Fraud) and Count III (Common Law Fraud)
of Defendants' Counterclaim on the basis that the
Defendants have failed to allege justifiable reliance.
[FN12] After reviewing this matter, the M agistrate
concluded that such a determination was premature, and
that the district court should determine whether such
reliance was justifiable after reviewing the evidence
add uced at trial. [FN13]

[6] Contrary to the recommendation of the Magistrate,
this Court finds that a party *1525 must plead
justifiable reliance in order to state a cause of action for
statutory and common law fraud. [FN 14] In this Cou rt's
view, a party must plead reliance upon a
misrepresentation or omission, and in addition thereto,
aver that such reliance was reasonable. [FN15 ] The
reasonableness of reliance is distinct from the reliance
itself. As the Defendants have failed to allege an
essential eleme nt of their cause of action, the Court
hereby dismisses Counts II and III of the D efendants'
Counterclaim with leave to amend.

FN12. The essence of First U nion 's contention
is that the Defendants have failed to
demonstra te that their reliance was
reasonable, given the fact that the purported
representation that First Union would
temporarily forego margin requirement rules
is a clear violation of securities regulations.
First Union concede s that the Defendants have
alleged reliance in Counts II and III of their
Counterclaim; howe ver, they have failed to
allege that such reliance was "justifiable" or

FN14. It is the view of this Court that the
Magistrate's reliance upon Gochnauer is
misplaced. The Gochnauer Court held that
the Plaintiff had failed to prove reliance upon
the a l le g e d m i s re p r e s e ntation; t hus,
Gochnauer pertained o nly to proof at trial and
not to the pleading requirements involved.
The Gochnauer Court neve r add ressed the
ple a ding re quirem e n t s n e c e s s ary t o
successfully assert a cause o f action, i.e.,
whether the Plaintiff had alleged that such
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reliance was justifiable.

FN15. "The courts have established that with
regard to private recovery for the violation of
Rule 10b -5, a properly stated cause of action
must establish the scienter of the defendant,
the materiality of any misrepresentation or
omission by the defendant, the extent of actual
reliance by the plaintiff on the defendant's
statements, and the justifiability of the
reliance, frequently translated into a
requirement of due diligenc e by the plaintiff."
Dupuy v. Dupuy, 551 F.2d 100 5 (5th
Cir.1977). (emphasis provided).

Failure to State a Claim for Fra ud as to Future Ac ts
To constitute actionable fraud, a false representation
must relate to an existing or p re-existing fact. Cavic v.
Grand Baham a Development Compa ny, Ltd., 701 F.2d
879, 883 (11th Cir.1983 ); Sleight v. Su n and Surf
Realty, Inc., 410 So.2d 9 98 (Fla. 3rd D CA 198 2). A
false statement amo unting to a pro mise to do something
in the future is not actionab le fraud. Royal Typewriter
Co., supra, at 1104. [FN16 ] Promises of future
performance are not actionable even if the promise
induces another to en ter into a contra ct. Royal
Typewriter Co., supra, at 110 4; Stoler v. Metropolitan
Life Insurance Co., 287 So.2d 694, 695 (Fla. 3rd DCA
1974).

FN16. A promise of future action or a
prediction of future events cannot, standing
alone, be a basis for fraud beca use it is not a
representation, there is no right to rely on it,
and it is not false when mad e. Cavic, supra, at
883.

An exception to this general rule exists, however, when
there are allegations that the misrepresentation was
made with no present intent to ca rry it out in the future.
Royal Typewriter Co., supra, at 1104. A plaintiff
seeking to recover for such a misrepresentation must
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show that the promisor either lacked the intention to
perform the pro mise o r specifically intended not to
perform at the time that the representation was made.
Id.
Plaintiff has filed a M otion to Dismiss Count I (Federal
Securities Fraud), Count II (State Securities Fraud), and
Count III (Com mon L aw Fraud ) of the Defend ants'
Counterclaim on the ground that the alleged
misrepresentation constitutes a promise as to future
performance, and therefore, is not actionable. [FN17]
Plaintiff further m aintains tha t its Motion to D ismiss
should be granted , as the D efendants hav e failed to
allege that the P laintiff either lacked the intentio n to
perform the promise or specifically intended not to
perform at the time that the representation was made.
After reviewing this ma tter, the Magistrate concluded
that the Defendants need not allege such an intent on
the part of the Plaintiff; they need only prove such
intent at the time of trial.

FN17. The misrepresentation allegedly made
by the Plaintiff was the Plaintiff's alleged
prom ise not to enforce industry marg in
requirements in the future.

[7] Contrary to the recommendation of the Magistrate,
this Court finds that in o rder to successfully assert a
Counterclaim against the Plaintiff, the Defendants must
allege that the P laintiff either lacked the intentio n to
perform the pro mise or specifically intended no t to
perform at the time that the representation was made.
[FN18] As stated in Bernard Marko & Associates v.
*1526 Steele, 230 So .2d 42, 44 (Fla. 3rd DC A 1970 ),
"[i]n orde r to state a claim for fraud based upon
representation of a future occurrenc e, a plaintiff must
allege that the representation was made without any
intention of performing it, or made with the positive
intention not to p erform it * * *." (emphasis provided).
Accordingly, Plaintiff's Motio n to D ismiss Counts I, II,
and III of the Defendants' Counterclaim is hereby
GRANT ED with leave to amend.

FN18. It is the view of this Court that Royal
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Typewriter Co., supra, does not support the
Magistrate's conclusion that the Defendants
need not plead that Plaintiff lacked the intent
to perfo rm.
In Royal Typewriter, the
Eleventh Circuit held that "[a]ppellees did not
adduce sufficient evidence at the trial to show
that this alleged misrepresentation was
actionable."
Id. at 1104.
T hus, the
aforementioned case dealt only with proo f at
trial and not with the plead ing req uirements
involved.

Failure to Allege Breach o f Fiduciary Duty
[8] In Count IV of their Counterclaim, the Defendants
have alleged that a fiduciary relationship existed
between the Plaintiff and the Defendants, and that the
Plaintiff acted contrary to its fiduciary duties of care
and loyalty. [FN19 ] In response thereto, the P laintiff
has filed a M otion to Dismiss on the basis that the
Defendants failed to allege facts sufficient to establish
the existence of a fiduciary relationship. [FN20] After
reviewing this matter, the Magistrate recommended that
this Court deny the Plaintiff's Motio n to D ismiss. For
the reasons set forth below, this Co urt finds in
accordance with the Magistrate, that Plaintiff's Motion
to Dismiss should be denied.

FN19. The Defendants have alleged that the
Plaintiff breached the following fiduciary
duties: (1) the duty to perfo rm the custome r's
orders promptly in a manner b est suited to the
custo me r's interests; (2) the duty to inform the
customer of the risks involve d in pu rchasing
or selling a particular security; and (3) the
duty not to m isrepresent any material fact to
the transaction. The Defendants have made
the foregoing allegations based upon the
Plaintiff's alleged failure to p rovid e timely,
accurate data reflecting the true condition of
the account, or alternatively, up on Plaintiff's
alleged failure to provide the Defendants with
additional time within which to satisfy the
margin requirements as allegedly promised by
Mr. Parillo.
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FN20. Plaintiff maintains that in ord er to
establish the existence o f a fiduciary duty, a
party must allege that a broker maintained
discretion over the custome r's acco unt, or that
a special advisory relationship existed.
Plaintiff further maintains that the Defendants
have failed to allege either of the foregoing
indicia of a fiduc iary duty.

The law is clear that a broker owes a fiduciary duty of
care and lo yalty to a securities investor. Gochna uer,
supra, at 1049; Thompson, supra, at 1418; Dupuy,
supra, at 1015. The fiduciary concept derives from
trust and agency princip les. Gochnauer, supra, at
1049. Actions contrary to the duties of loyalty and
care are remedied by giving the beneficiary of the
relationship the right to reco ver fo r the fiduciary's
breach. Id. Florida courts recognize a breach of
fiduciary duty claim at co mmon law. Id.
The fiduciary duty which is owed by the broker to the
securities investor turns upon the nature of the ac count.
Different fiducia ry duties are owed based on whether
the account is discretionary or nondiscretionary. Id.;
Leib v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner and Smith, 461
F.Supp. 951 (E .D.Mich.197 8). [FN21]

FN21. The discretionary account is defined as
an account where the broker has a continuous
obligation to manage the account;
a
nondiscretionary account is defined as an
account where the customer and broker confer
as to a particular transaction but the broker has
no continuing management duty over the
account once the single transaction is
com plete. Gochnauer, supra, at 1049.

Fiduciary duties associated with a nondiscretionary
account, such as the one presently at issue, include the
following:
(1) the duty to recommend [investments] only after
studying it sufficiently to become info rmed as to its
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nature, price, and financial prognosis; (2) the duty to
perform the customer's orders promptly in a manner
best suited to serve the customer's interests; (3) the
duty to inform the custo mer o f the risks invo lved in
purchasing or selling a particular security; (4) the
duty to refrain from self-dealing ...; (5) the duty not
to misrepresent any material fact to the transaction;
and (6) the duty to transact b usiness only after
receiving approval from the customer.
Gochnauer, supra, at 1049. [FN22]

FN22. Neither party herein disputes the fact
that this case involves a nondiscretionary
acco unt. Plaintiff contends that where the
account is nondiscretionary, no fiduciary
duties arise. Plaintiff's contention, however,
is contrary to the law o f this circuit. See
Gochnauer, supra, at 1049.

Upon review of Count IV of the D efenda nt's
Counterclaim, the Court finds that *1527 the
Defendants have stated a claim for breach of fiduciary
duty. Ac co rdingly, P laintiff's Mo tion to Dismiss Count
IV is DENIED.
Failure to State a Cause of Action for Breach of
Contract
Count VI of the D efendants Counterclaim purp orts to
state a cause of action for breach of contract. The
Plaintiff has filed a Motion to Dismiss Count VI of the
Defend ants' Counterclaim on the ground that this claim
is directly at odds with the express language of the
contract at issue. [FN23 ] In opposition thereto, the
Defendants maintain that Count VI is fac ially sufficient.
[FN24]

FN23. In support of its Mo tion to Dismiss, the
Plaintiff maintains that the express language of
the contract authorize d the P laintiff to
liquida te the Defend ants' account as necessary
when margin calls were ge nerated. T hus,
Plain tiff contends that the liquidation of the
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Defend ants' account was done in accordance
with the exp ress term s of the contract.
Mo reover, Plaintiff maintains that the
Defend ants' assertion that First Union agreed
not to enforce the margin requirement direct
contradicts the exp ress term s of the co ntract.

FN24. The Defendants maintain that Count VI
states a cause of action "as it describes a
course of conduct and agreement between the
parties, requiring that First Union provide up
to date, accurate financial information
concerning the status and condition of the
Milos acco unt. Such agreement and cond uct is
not inconsistent with any written agreement
entered into between the parties." See Motion
in Op position to Mo tion to Dismiss
Counterclaim.

Upon review of this matter, it is clear that the scope of
the argument herein exceeds the four corners of the
con tract.
As such, this matter is more properly
resolved via summary judgm ent, rather than a M otion
to Dismiss. [FN25]

FN25. Whether the course of dealing between
the parties and the alleged agreements that
f o ll o w e d c o n s ti tu t e a n e n fo r c e a b le
modification of the co ntract is more p roperly
resolved by way of a summ ary jud gment.

Motion for More Definite Statement as to Alleged
Violations of Florida
Statute Section 517.12 in Count V II
Count VII of the D efendants' Counterclaim broad ly
alleges that unregistered emp loyees of First Union
executed transactions initiated by the Defendants from
August 1987 through October 1987. [FN26 ] As Count
VII refers to such a broad time frame and a lleges that
these transactions were made through "unregistered
perso ns," the Plaintiff is entitled to a more definite
statement. Specifically, the Defendants mu st allege, to

Cop r. © 20 04 W est. No C laim to Orig. U .S. Govt. Wo rks.

717 F.Supp. 1519
717 F.Supp. 1519, Blue Sky L. Rep. P 73,207, Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 94,819
(Cite as: 717 F.Supp. 1519)

the extent possible, the nature of the transactions and
the identities of the unregistered salesmen involved. At
that point, the Plaintiff will be p roperly equipped to
frame an appropriate response.

Page 11

717 F.Sup p. 15 19, Blue Sky L. Rep. P 73,207, Fed.
Sec. L. Rep. P 94,819
END OF DOCUMENT

FN26. Specifically, Count VII alleges that
"[d]uring the entire period of trading in the
Milos acco unt and in particular, during the
months of August, September and October,
1987, the Defendant initiated transactions and
made chang es in transactions through persons
who were not registered as securities
salesmen...." See D efenda nts' Counterclaim,
p. 16.

Conclusion
Upon review of the Magistrate's Report and
Recommendation, the objections thereto, and the record
herein, it is hereby
OR DE RE D A ND AD JUDG ED as follow s:
1. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
Plead Fra ud with Particularity--DEN IED ;
2. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
State a Cause of Action unde r Sec tion
12(2)--GRANTED as to Count I of the Counterclaim;
3. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
St a t e a C la i m u n d er F la. S tat. Se c tio n
517 .301 --DE NIE D;
4. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
Allege Justifiable Reliance--GRA NT ED with leave
to amend;
5. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
State a C laim fo r F rau d as to Future
Acts--G RANT ED with leave to am end;
6. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
Allege Breach o f Fiduciary Duty--DE NIE D;
7. Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim for Failure to
State a Cause of Action for Breach o f
Contract--D EN IED ;
*1528 8. Mo tion for More Definite Statement as to
Count VII--GRANTED.
DONE AND ORDERED.
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